2006

Great American E&S Insurance Compnay v. Dallas W. Peters and Brandon Knuetson, Mary Lynn Knuteson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction of the Court is conferred by UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(3)(j).

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Great American E&S Insurance Company ("Great American") and against Dallas W. Peters ("Peters") and Mary Lynn and Brandon Knuteson ("Knutesons"), including the following:

With Respect to the Great American Policy

A. Did the trial court commit legal error by ruling that "insured" status under the Great American Policy is defined by language in the Federal Policy rather than by the definition of "insureds" stated in the Great American Policy?

B. Did the trial court commit legal error by incorporating by reference endorsement 16-02-33 of the Federal Policy into the Great American Policy contrary to UTAH CODE ANN. § 31A-21-106?

With Respect to the Federal Policy

C. Did the trial court commit legal error by ruling that Great American can deny coverage to Peters based upon language in the Federal Policy despite Federal's agreement that "Peters is an insured person under the Federal Policy" and despite payment of its full \$1,000,000 policy limit?

D. Did the trial court commit legal error by ruling that Peters was a "temporary employee[]" excluded by endorsement 16-02-33 of the Federal Policy despite undisputed

evidence that Peters worked full-time, five days a week, including he regularly operated the dump truck he was operating at the time of the accident?

E. Did the trial court commit legal error by giving effect as a matter of "fact" (not law) to SOS's claimed subjective undisclosed intent concerning the words "staff" and "temporary," rather than the ordinary meaning of those words?

F. Did the trial court commit legal error by ruling that the word "staff" as used in the Federal Policy unambiguously does not refer to the individuals that "SOS Staffing" provides to its clients to complete the client's "staffing" needs?

G. Did the trial court commit legal error by failing to rule that one "reasonable" interpretation of the Federal Policy is that Peters (an admitted employee of SOS) is an "insured" for purposes of automobile liability coverage?

H. Did the trial court commit legal error by ruling that interpretation of the Federal Policy is to be determined based upon an alleged underwriting intention to not insure any SOS employee operating under the control of an SOS client when the record contains no evidence from Federal supporting this alleged intent and when the evidence from SOS is directly contrary including that SOS represented and warranted such coverage to clients?

I. Did the trial court commit legal error by failing to rule that Great American conceded ambiguity concerning who are the "insured" employees under the Federal and Great America Policies in response to requests for admissions?

J. Did the trial court commit legal error by failing to rule that the word "you" as used in the Federal Policy is ambiguous?

The trial court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. *See Price Dev. Co. v. Orem City*, 2000 UT 26, ¶ 9, 995 P.2d 1237 (Utah 2000).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

A. UTAH CODE ANN. § 31A-21-106 (Addendum Ex. A):

[A]n insurance policy may not contain any agreement or incorporate any provision not fully set forth in the policy or in an application or other document attached to and made a part of the policy at the time of its delivery.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case and Course of the Proceedings

This is an insurance coverage dispute between Peters, an "insured" under an umbrella liability insurance policy, and his insurer, Great American.¹ The primary insurer, Federal Insurance Company ("Federal") is no longer a party. Federal found Peters to be an "insured" and paid its full \$1,000,000 limit for the benefit of Mary Lynn Knuteson. Ms. Knuteson is an incompetent adult represented by her husband, Brandon Knuteson, who suffered traumatic brain injury when Peters failed to stop at a stop sign while driving a dump truck.

¹Peters and Knutesons have taken the same position throughout these proceedings and reference to Peters' position is that of Knutesons as well.

In proceedings below, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment on the issue of whether Peters is an "insured" under the Great American Policy. Peters' position is that all "employees" of SOS Staffing, Inc. ("SOS") are "insureds" under the language of the Great American Policy. There is no dispute that Peters was an employee of SOS at the time of the accident. Peters also contends that although it is improper under UTAH CODE ANN. § 31A-21-106(1) to incorporate language from the Federal Policy, Federal correctly found Peters to be an insured under its policy language because he was not a "temporary" employee. Therefore, coverage exists even if terms of the Federal Policy are incorporated by reference.

Great American's position is that endorsement 16-02-33 to the underlying Federal Policy is made a part of the Great American Policy and that this endorsement removes coverage for a subset of SOS's employees, specifically "temporary employees for customers." Great American argues that although Peters was employed full-time with an expectation of continued employment and Federal found him to be an "insured," Peters is excluded because SOS allegedly "intended" for all employees working under the supervision of SOS's clients to be considered "temporary" employees.

The first issue presented on appeal is whether this case will be resolved under the language of the Great American Policy, the Federal Policy, or both. The trial court granted Great American's motion for summary judgment but did not address UTAH CODE ANN. § 31A-21-106(1) or three of the four independent grounds offered by Peters for

summary judgment. The trial court instead ruled based upon SOS's alleged subjective "intent" concerning the Federal Policy. R 1831-35 (Addendum Ex. B).

II. Statement of Facts

Peters' Full-Time Employment by SOS

1. On March 15, 2001 Peters was driving a dump truck and failed to stop at a stop sign, running into a vehicle driven by Mary Lynn Knuteson (hereinafter "the Accident"). As a result of the Accident, Mrs. Knuteson suffered traumatic brain injury and she requires constant care ("24/7") which she will likely need for the remainder of her life. Mrs. Knuteson is unable to work, cannot ambulate independently and she is unable to care for herself. *See* R 809, 962 (admitted); *see also* R 783-84, 797-800.²

2. At the time of the Accident, Peters was employed by SOS Staffing, Inc. ("SOS"). SOS became Peters' employer as a result of Vicars Trucking Company, Inc. ("Vicars") requesting that SOS provide payroll services for Peters and other full-time employees. At the time of the Accident, Peters was working full-time, five days a week. Mr. Peters regularly operated the dump truck he was driving at the time of the Accident.

²Great American affirmatively admitted the SOF offered by Knutesons in support of summary judgment. *See* R 962-66 (Great American's Reply at iii-vii). Great American did argue that certain paragraphs were "not relevant" but Great American failed to provide any "citation to relevant materials, such as affidavits or discovery materials" to dispute any of the offered paragraphs and therefore the offered facts have been "deemed admitted" for purposes of summary judgment. *See* UTAH R. CIV. P. 7(c)(3)(A). Paragraphs 1-15 herein are taken from the SOFs offered in support of Knutesons' motion for summary judgment. Paragraphs 16-36 herein are taken from Knutesons' supplemental brief requested by the trial court.

Peters was never screened by SOS and like all of Vicars' full-time workers, he was sent by Vicars to SOS (rather than being supplied by SOS from its list of screened temporary workers). R 809-10 (¶¶ 2-3), 962-63 (admitted); *see also* R 785-86, 789-93, 794-96.

The Federal and Great American Policies

3. Federal Insurance Company ("Federal") wrote a contract of insurance, Policy No. BAT (02) 7350-75-00 (the "Federal Policy"), that provides \$1,000,000 of liability coverage to SOS for the period from January 1, 2001 through January 1, 2002. R 811 (¶ 5), 963 (admitted); *see also* R 643-95 (relevant parts Addendum Ex. C).

4. Great American E&S Insurance Company ("Great American") wrote a contract of insurance, Policy No. UMG 00 41 44-04 (the "Great American Policy"), that provides \$5,000,000 of liability coverage to SOS for the period from January 1, 2001 through January 1, 2002 in excess of the "amounts stated as the applicable limits of the underlying policies listed in the Schedule of Underlying Insurance. . . ." The Federal Policy is listed as the "Underlying Polic[y]" for "Automobile/Garage" coverage. R 811 (¶ 6), 963 (admitted); *see also* R 696-725 (Addendum Ex. D).

5. An endorsement (Form CA 989) to the Federal Policy states:

The following is added to the Section II -- Liability Coverage, Paragraph A.1. Who Is An Insured Provision: **Any "employee" of yours is an "insured"** while using a covered "auto" you don't own, hire or borrow in your business or your personal affairs.

R 813 (¶ 17) (emphasis added), 963 (admitted); *see also* R 681.

6. Another endorsement (Form 16-02-33) to the Federal Policy states:

FORM CA989 (02/99) "EMPLOYEES AS INSURED" IS
AMENDED TO INCLUDE TO FOLLOWING WORDING:

**THIS FORM APPLIES TO THE STAFF OF THE INSURED
ONLY AND NOT TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES FOR THE
CUSTOMERS.**

R 813 (§ 18) (emphasis added), 964 (admitted); *see also* R 682.

7. The Great American Policy provides automobile coverage if "included under the policies listed in the Schedule of Underlying Insurance and for no broader coverage than is provided under such underlying policies." R 812 (§ 11), 963 (admitted); *see also* R 704.

8. The Great American Policy partially defines "Employees" as follows:

Employees include "leased workers" but not "temporary workers." "Leased workers" are leased to you by a labor leasing firm under an agreement between you and the labor leasing firm to perform related duties to the conduct of your business. "Leased workers" are not "temporary workers." "Temporary workers" are persons furnished to you to substitute for permanent employees on leave or to meet seasonal or short-term workload conditions.

R 813 (§ 15), 963 (admitted); *see also* R 704.

9. The Federal Policy partially defines "Employee" as follows:

"Employee" includes a "leased worker." "Employee" does not include a "temporary worker."

R 812 (§ 12), 963 (admitted); *see also* R 662.

10. The Federal Policy defines a "Leased worker" as follows:

"Leased worker" means a person leased to you by a labor leasing firm under an agreement between you and the labor leasing firm, to

perform duties related to the conduct of your business. "Leased worker" does not include a "temporary worker."

R 812-13 (§ 13), 963 (admitted); *see also* R 662.

11. The Federal Policy defines "Temporary worker" as follows:

"Temporary worker" means a person who is furnished to you for a finite time period to support or supplement your work force in special work situations such as "employee" absences, temporary skill shortages and seasonal work loans.

R 813 (§ 14), 963 (admitted); *see also* R 663.

12. At the time of the Accident, Peters did not fall within the definitions for "Temporary worker" or "temporary workers" as defined in the Policies. R 813 (§ 16), 963 (admitted).

Federal's Payment of the Claim

13. The Dump Truck driven by Peters at the time of the Accident was a "covered auto" under the Federal Policy. R 812 (§ 10), 963 (admitted); *see also* R 635-42.

14. Federal provided full coverage of \$1,000,000 (the amount of its policy) to Peters for the benefit of the Knutesons. R 818 (§ 29), 965 (admitted); *see also* R 759-64.

15. In providing such coverage, Federal has stated that "Peters is an insured person under the Federal Policy." R 818 (§ 30), 966 (admitted); *see also* R 760-61.

The Great American Policy Defines Covered "Employees" And No Provision Of The Great American Policy Was Negotiated Or Modified

16. The Great American Policy covers "[a]ny [SOS] employees . . . acting within the scope of their duties." R 1405 (¶ 1) (emphasis added); *see also* R 704.

17. The Great American Policy is an integrated agreement and can be modified only by an endorsement signed by Great American. R 1405 (¶ 2); *see also* R 708.

18. The Great American Policy has not been modified by subsequent endorsement and does not contain the language set forth in endorsement 16-02-33 to the Federal Policy. R 1405 (¶ 3); *see also* R 682, 696-725.

19. Stephen G. Handley ("Handley") the insurance broker for SOS Staffing, Inc. ("SOS"), John K. Morrison ("Morrison") SOS's general counsel and Mark C. Marshall ("Marshall") SOS's insurance risk manager, all testified that there were no discussions or negotiations related to any provision of the Great American Policy and the language of that policy was drafted entirely by Great American. R 1405-06 (¶ 4); *see also* R 1109, 1454, 1475-76, 1488, 1504.

With Respect to the Federal Policy SOS And Federal Never Agreed To Use The Word "Temporary" To Mean "Long Term"

20. SOS employees include so-called "payrollers." A payroller is an employee found by SOS's client. Payrollers can work full-time for the SOS client with the expectation that their employment will continue for a certain number of years or

indefinitely. The SOS client decides the length of the payroller's employment. R 1406 (¶ 5); *see also* R 1454, 1477-78, 1486, 1488, 1492-93.

21. Dallas Peters was a full-time payroller. R 1406 (¶ 6); *see also* R 1454, 1480, 1488, 1504. Despite the fact that payrollers can work full-time with the expectation of continuing employment, SOS's witnesses claim that SOS internally lumps "payrollers" with other "temporaries" and calls both categories of employees "temporary employees." SOS claims that it internally distinguishes these employees from employees who are under SOS's direct supervision—so-called "staff." R 1406-07 (¶ 7); *see also* 1454, 1478, 1486, 1488, 1491, 1493.

22. SOS's witnesses acknowledge that by using the words "temporary employee" to describe a full-time worker whose job is expected to continue, SOS uses the word "temporary" in a way that has no temporal meaning, contrary to the ordinary dictionary meaning of that word. R 1407 (¶ 8); *see also* 1454, 1478, 1488, 1509.

23. No witness has any recollection of explaining to Federal SOS's unique use of the words "staff" and "temporary employees." R 1407-08 (¶¶ 9-11); *see also*, R 1109-10, 1426, 1428-30, 1440-41, 1446, 1450, 1454-55, 1470, 1486-87, 1488-90, 1501, 1507.

24. Although Handley was the only SOS witness who talked to Federal during underwriting, he does not know whether SOS intended for payrollers to be considered part of the covered "staff" under endorsement 16-02-33. R 1408 (¶ 12); *see also* R 1453.

25. Federal wrote endorsement 16-02-33. R 1408 (¶ 13); *see also* R 1109, 1426, 1442.

26. After the Accident, SOS tried to convince Federal to change its position that Peters was a covered non-temporary "staff" employee within the meaning of 16-02-33 and to deny the claim. Federal's adjuster responded by telling SOS "that the wording [of endorsement 16-02-33 is] ambiguous." R 1408 (¶ 14); *see also* 1426, 1438-39, 1454, 1480-81, 1488, 1506, 1508.

27. At the time SOS tried to persuade Federal to change its position, SOS was concerned that the \$1,000,000 reserve set by Federal as well as any future payment by Great American would impact SOS's insurance rates and/or its ability to obtain coverage. R 1408 (¶ 15); *see also* 1426, 1436, 1449, 1452, 1454, 1476-77, 1488, 1504.

SOS Has Treated Full-Time Employees As "Insureds" In Order To Meet Contract Requirements With its Clients

28. SOS's clients sometimes insist that the client **and the SOS employees** who work at the direction of the client be added as "additional insureds" to SOS's automobile liability policy. SOS's clients also sometimes require that SOS's automobile liability carrier waive its right to seek subrogation against the client. R 1409 (¶ 16); *see also* R 1426, 1430, 1443, 1454, 1457, 1460, 1488, 1491.

29. For example, SOS signed several contracts requiring that the clients and the employees doing work at the clients' direction be added as "additional insureds" to the Federal policy for automobile coverage and that Federal waive its right of subrogation

against the clients. R 1409 (§§ 17-18); *see also* R 1454, 1470-71, 1473-75, 1488, 1494-97, 1511-1643 (relevant parts Addendum Ex. E) (R 1511-68, 1584-1643).

30. In order to meet the requirements of these contracts, SOS was required to either obtain an endorsement modifying the Federal Policy or locate existing language in the policy that provides such coverage. The Federal Policy is an integrated contract that can be modified only by endorsement. R 1410 (§ 19); *see also* R 667, 1426, 1431.

31. SOS knew Federal would not issue endorsements adding SOS's clients or the involved employees as "additional insureds" to the Federal Policy. R 1410 (§§ 20-21); *see also* 1426, 1431, 1436, 1451, 1454, 1456-59, 1463, 1475, 1488, 1492, 1500, 1502.

32. SOS nevertheless issued "Certificates(s) of Liability Insurance" confirming "additional insured" status for automobile liability coverage including excess liability coverage under the Great American Policy. R 1411-12 (§ 24); *see also* R 1569-81, 1644-87 (Addendum Ex. F).

33. SOS did so in reliance on existing language in the Federal Policy to the effect that because the "employee" working full-time for the SOS client is an "insured," the SOS client is also an "insured" for vicarious liability related to the employee's conduct. R 1411-12 (§§ 22-23); *see also* 1426, 1432-34, 1452, 1462, 1465, 1488, 1500, 1503, 1510, 1697-99 (Addendum Ex. G).

34. The certificates confirming "additional insured" status to SOS's clients parrot the language of an e-mail from Federal outlining policy language whereby SOS's

clients are additional insureds "to the extent" they are vicariously liable for the conduct of the involved SOS employees. R 1413 (§ 26); *see also* R 1575-80 (SOS's clients "are listed as additional insureds . . . on Auto Liability policy, but only as respects work performed by the named insureds' employees"); 1697-99 (coverage exists for "[a]nyone else who is . . . liable for the conduct of an 'insured' but only to the extent of that liability.").

SOS Paid a Premium for Non-Owned Auto Coverage

35. The declarations page of the Federal Policy confirms that SOS paid a premium for non-owned automobile coverage based upon 10,000 employees. R 647; *see also* R 1114 (application).

36. SOS's general counsel confirmed that this figure is the number of employees working at any given time including all "payrollers." R 1492.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court's ruling that Peters is not an "insured" under the Great American Policy must be reversed and a judgment entered finding Peters to be an insured for four reasons. Each of these grounds serves as an independent basis for coverage. The trial court addressed only the second ground and failed to consider that each ground separately supports a finding of coverage.

1. *Peters is an Insured Under the Great American Policy Language.*

First, the Great American Policy defines all SOS's "employees" as insureds and Peters is admittedly an SOS employee. Great American's argument that endorsement 16-02-33 of the Federal Policy redefines the covered employees to exclude "temporary employees for the customers" fails as a matter of contract interpretation and under the Utah Insurance Code's prohibition against incorporation by reference. With respect to the contract, Great American concedes the requirement that automobile coverage be "included" in the Federal Policy is not an incorporation of specific language, but merely a pre-condition to coverage that has been met. *See* R 1855 at 5-6, 8. Further, the "for no broader coverage than is provided" language, at most, references the scope of the underlying automobile insuring clause, not the list of "insureds" separately defined in each policy. Cases uniformly hold that a reference to underlying "coverage" is to the type of risk covered, not specific limiting language.

In all events, Great American's argument is one of incorporation by reference prohibited by UTAH CODE ANN. § 31A-21-106(1). Great American's only response is that if this statute applies, no automobile coverage is provided at all. However, the pre-condition that automobile coverage be provided by underlying insurance has been met. Further, this Court has uniformly held that insurance policies will be enforced without limiting language that is improperly incorporated. *See Cullum v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 857 P.2d 922, 927 (Utah 1993); *Universal Underwriters Ins. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins.*,

925 P.2d 1270, 1275 (Utah 1996); and *Farmers Ins. Exch. v. Call*, 712 P.2d 231, 236-37 (Utah 1985). Any other outcome rewards Great American for issuing a non-complying policy.

2. *Peters is an Insured Under the Federal Policy Language.*

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