2006

# Great American E&S Insurance Company v. Dallas W. Peters, Brandon Knuteson, Mary Lynn Knuteson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

It is the Knutesons' burden, as the parties arguing that Mr. Peters is insured under the Great American policy, to prove that there was coverage. *Quaker State Minit-Lube, Inc. v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.* 868 F. Supp. 1278, 1295-96 (D. Utah 1994), *affirmed*, 52 F.3d 1522 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995); *Morris v. Farmers Home Mut. Ins.*, 28 Utah 2d 206, 500 P.2d 505, 507 (Utah 1972). They cannot meet this burden because the plain language of the Great American policy, considered either in conjunction with the underlying Federal auto policy or standing alone, clearly states that temporary employees for SOS' customers such as Mr. Peters are not insureds for accidents arising from their use of an automobile not owned by SOS. Considering the uncontroverted fact that Mr. Peters was an SOS temporary employee and not part of SOS' staff, he cannot be an insured.

The Knutesons' arguments that the policy term "temporary employee" does not fit Mr. Peters fail because they do not address whether, much less establish that, he was "staff." The arguments are also improper because they focus solely on the word "temporary," not the phrase "temporary employee," and ignore completely the operative part of the phrase, "for the customers." Alternatively, they argue that the term "staff" is so broad it encompasses any employee, which simply renders the term meaningless.

None of the Knutesons' arguments changes the uncontroverted fact that Mr. Peters, was not SOS staff. He therefore cannot be an insured under any commonsense understanding of the terms of the policy. Nor do the Knutesons' various arguments that post-claim conduct by SOS, Federal and Great American overcome the conclusion that Mr. Peters is not insured. Federal's decision to settle the Knutesons' claim against it does not bind Great American nor change the fact that Mr. Peters is not an insured under the terms of the Federal policy.

Reference to the Federal policy is required in reading the Great American policy because that is what the policy says. The Knutesons' efforts to pick and choose parts of the Federal policy on which to rely is not supported by any rule of construction or established interpretation of Utah Code Ann. § 31A-21-106(1). However, if some of the Federal policy is not to be considered, then none of it can be considered. Even without reference to the Federal policy, the Great American policy does not insure Mr. Peters.

The Knutesons unnecessarily complicate a simple and rational situation. A straightforward analysis shows that Mr. Peters is not an insured. This Court should on that basis affirm summary judgment in Great American's favor.

## **VI. ARGUMENT**

### **A. MR. PETERS IS NOT AN INSURED UNDER THE FEDERAL POLICY**

The Great American policy standing alone does not make Mr. Peters an insured because it makes clear anyone operating an auto is not an insured unless such coverage is provided by underlying insurance. Thus, it is necessary to address the Federal policy.

1. **The Federal Policy Provides Automobile Coverage Only to SOS Staff Employees, Not Temporary Employees of Customers.**

The Federal policy sets forth “**WHO IS AN INSURED,**” and states that “insureds” include those who use a covered automobile that SOS owns, hires or borrows. (R. 44). Mr. Peters was driving a truck owned by Vicars at the time of the accident, and SOS did not hire or borrow the truck. (R. 31, 86, 218). Mr. Peters is thus not an insured under that provision.

There are two relevant endorsements. The first, entitled “**EMPLOYEES AS INSUREDS,**” states that “any employee” of SOS is insured while using a covered automobile that SOS does not own, hire or borrow. (R. 70). However, this endorsement is limited by a second endorsement, which was crafted to meet SOS’ explicit demand that its temporary employees for its customers not be insured while operating those customer’s vehicles. The second endorsement provides:

FORM CA989 (02/99) “EMPLOYEES AS INSUREDS” IS AMENDED  
TO INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING WORDING:

THIS FORM APPLIES TO THE STAFF OF THE INSURED ONLY AND  
NOT TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES FOR THE CUSTOMERS.

(R. 71).

Thus, Mr. Peters, as a temporary employee for an SOS customer, is not insured under the Federal policy. The only way the Federal policy would cover his liability for an automobile accident while driving a vehicle SOS did not own, hire or borrow is if he were a staff employee of SOS.



SOS specifically demanded that Federal issue the second endorsement after it realized that the Federal policy with only the “EMPLOYEES AS INSUREDS” endorsement attached was too broad. SOS notified its insurance broker that the “EMPLOYEES AS INSUREDS” endorsement would have to be changed because SOS wanted to provide “non-owned” automobile coverage only for its staff employees, those who work in SOS offices and whose driving activities can be supervised by SOS. SOS did not want to provide insurance to the thousands of temporary employees driving vehicles of SOS customers in furtherance of those customers’ businesses. As a result, Federal prepared the second endorsement, which expressly limits the group of insureds to staff employees and explicitly eliminates as insureds SOS’ temporary employees working for SOS customers. The endorsement was attached to the policy and accepted by SOS.

SOS’ desire that its responsibility be limited to those employees it directly monitored gives the context for the second endorsement. That context is entirely relevant in considering the meaning of the term “temporary employee for the customers.” In *Valentine v. Farmers Insurance Exchange*, 2006 UT App. 301, 556 Utah Adv. Rep. 30 (Utah Ct. App. 7/20/06), the Court of Appeals construed the term “regular use” of a non-owned vehicle. Concluding that an employer’s truck was available for an employee’s “regular use” (in order to find no underinsured motorists coverage under the employee’s personal auto policy), the court considered that the purpose of the term was not to expand coverage, but to restrict it, and declined to find that the term as used in the policy is ambiguous “in the context of the undisputed facts of record.” *Id.* at 301 at ¶ 13. By

taking into account the purpose behind the inclusion of this term in the policy, the court was acting consistently with the maxim that terms in insurance contracts be construed “in accordance with the usual and natural meaning of the words, and in the light of existing circumstances, including the purpose of the policy.” *Id.* at ¶ 15, *quoting Neilsen v. O’Reilly*, 848 P.2d 664, 666 (Utah 1992).

The Knutesons would have the Court ignore the undisputed purpose of the second endorsement in the Federal policy. Doing so would violate the basic tenet of policy construction that policies are to be construed as a whole, with all provisions given effect. *Holmes Dev., LLC v. Cook*, 2002 UT 38 ¶24, 48 P.3d 895; *Utah Farm Bureau Ins. Co. v. Crook*, 1999 UT 47 ¶ 5, 980 P.2d 685. Courts are “obliged to assume that language included [in a policy] was put there for a purpose, and to give it effect where its meaning is clear and unambiguous.” *Marriot v. Pacific Nat’l. Life Assurance Co.*, 24 Utah 2d 182, 467 P.2d 981, 983 (Utah 1970).

The Knutesons also ignore the clear purpose reflected in the policy language. SOS intended that the Federal policy not insure its temporary employees, and the second endorsement as written reflects that intent. *See MIC Prop. & Cas. Ins. Corp. v. Int’l. Ins. Co.*, 990 F.2d 573, 575 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993) (stating that absent an ambiguity in the policy, the intent of the parties must be derived solely from the language of the insurance contract); *Equitable Life & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Ross*, 849 P.2d 1187, 1992 (Utah Ct. App. 1993), *cert. denied*, 860 P.2d 943 (Utah 1993) (stating that clear and unambiguous contract will be interpreted according to its plain and ordinary meaning). The Knutesons’ argument that

the intent of the endorsement be disregarded in the face of the uncontroverted facts asks this Court to do too much. The endorsement acts as a significant limitation which the Knutesons ask to be minimized to the point of uselessness, if not ignored altogether.

**2. Mr. Peters was not a Staff Employee but was a Temporary Employee Working for Vicars, an SOS Customer.**

SOS is in the business of providing workers to various companies or customers to further those customers' businesses. SOS cannot operate this business without another, separate set of employees to carry out the administrative and operational functions of SOS. SOS therefore has two categories of employees: temporary employees, those employees who work directly for customers at their place of business; and staff employees, those who carry out the business operations of SOS. The two categories are mutually exclusive, and SOS operates with clear distinctions between the two categories of employees, as set forth in ¶¶ 2-9 of the Statement of Facts.

Staff employees work at SOS offices and include bookkeepers, administrative personnel, management, and those who recruit temporary employees. Their supervisors are other SOS staff employees, and they work under the supervisors' direction and control. When being considered for employment, potential staff employees fill out a form called "Staff Application for Employment" and authorize SOS to perform a background check. When hired, they receive a handbook setting forth corporate policies and benefits. They receive disability, medical, dental and accidental death insurance.

They enjoy specified vacation time and sick leave days. SOS pays them once every two weeks.

By contrast, temporary employees work for SOS customers at the customers' will and direction. They carry out the business of the customer. Temporary employees work at the customers' work sites or places of business, and they are supervised by the customers, not SOS. The customer pays SOS for the wages of the temporary employees, and SOS in turn issues the temporary employees a pay check, once a week. Prospective temporary employees fill out an application with SOS simply called "Application for Employment," and the background check they undergo is less extensive than with staff employees. Temporary employees do not receive benefits paid for by SOS.

Mr. Peters was hired as a temporary employee to work for Vicars. Vicars sent Mr. Peters to SOS for payroll services.<sup>2</sup> Mr. Peters filled out the "Application for Employment" and underwent the less extensive background check. Vicars paid SOS for Mr. Peters' wages plus an additional amount to cover SOS' payroll services. Mr. Peters reported to work at Vicars each day, took direction from a Vicars supervisor, and turned in time cards at Vicars. Mr. Peters drove trucks owned and furnished by Vicars. He was reporting to a Vicars worksite on the morning of the accident as ordered by his Vicars supervisor. Vicars' owner considered Mr. Peters to be a Vicars employee. Mr. Peters

---

<sup>2</sup> Mr. Peters was therefore a "payroller," which SOS testified is a subset of "temporary employee."

functioned just like other temporary employees SOS provided to its customers, and in no way was he ever treated as staff of SOS.

The context from which the wording of the second endorsement derives is inescapable. Vicars willingly agreed to, and did, provide Mr. Peters with insurance coverage for his actions while driving an automobile or truck for Vicars under its auto liability policy. This arrangement made sense because Vicars would monitor his driving and directed him where and when to drive, and Vicars would have the liability.

*Kunz v. Beneficial Temporaries*, 921 P.2d 456, 461-63 (Utah 1996).<sup>3</sup> SOS could not and did not tell Mr. Peters how to drive, and it did not give him any training on how to drive the Vicars trucks. Accordingly, Vicars signed two separate documents with SOS agreeing that it would be the entity to purchase automobile liability insurance for Mr. Peters. Vicars acknowledged that SOS would not provide any automobile liability insurance for him. Vicars did purchase automobile liability insurance covering Mr. Peters through Farm Bureau. When the Knutesons sued Mr. Peters for the automobile accident, Farm Bureau defended him. Farm Bureau paid its policy limits in settlement of the Knutesons' negligence claim against Mr. Peters.

---

<sup>3</sup> In the underlying tort litigation against SOS and Vicars Tracking, SOS moved for dismissal on the basis that as a "special employer," it had no tort liability, and the Knutesons did not oppose that motion. (R. 214-15)

**B. ARGUMENTS THAT MR. PETERS WAS A COVERED STAFF EMPLOYEE OF SOS ARE UNAVAILING**

**1. Dictionary Definitions of “Temporary” and Thesaurus Synonyms for “Staff” do not Lend Meaning to the Industry Terms “Temporary Employee” and “Staff Employee.”**

All evidence is that Mr. Peters was by SOS custom and practice a temporary employee and not a staff employee of SOS. Recognizing this irrefutable fact, the Knutesons attempt to cast the issue as one of construction of the term “temporary employee.” They do so by improperly focusing solely on the word “temporary” and by ignoring the modifier “for the customers.”

The Knutesons note that since Mr. Peters “was working full-time, five days a week” (Appellants’ Brief, p. 5), he was not a “temporary” employee. The issue is not whether Mr. Peters is a “temporary” employee, but whether he is a “temporary employee.”<sup>4</sup> The Knutesons also claim Mr. Peters had “an expectation of continuing employment,” although they do not have a citation to the record on appeal for this. Again, any expectation of continuing employment Mr. Peters may have had was with Vicars, not for SOS. In any event, the amount of hours or length of time he worked does not affect whether or not he was a “temporary employee for the customers” and certainly does not bear on whether he was “staff.”

---

<sup>4</sup> The Knutesons also conveniently interchange the terms “temporary employee” and “temporary worker,” then point to the fact that Great American admits that Mr. Peters was not a “temporary worker” as that term is defined in its policy. That definition, of course, addresses those workers supplied to SOS for its seasonal needs not by SOS to others. (R. 813). The fact that Mr. Peters is not a “temporary worker” under either the Great American policy or the Federal policy is therefore irrelevant.

By ignoring the phrase “for the customers,” the Knutesons ignore the very essence of the term “temporary employee.” What makes Mr. Peters a “temporary employee for the customers” is that he was working for a customer. The operative term is not “temporary” employee; it is not even a “temporary employee.” It is “temporary employee for the customers.” Any reasonable construction must account for the entire phrase.

The Knutesons also dismiss SOS’ ability and right to categorize its own employees. They claim that although SOS has consistently distinguished its employees as either “temporary employees” or “staff employees,” this distinction is “unreasonable” because dictionaries and thesauruses do not explicitly acknowledge this distinction. (Appellants’ Brief, pp. 32, 37). This is not surprising, since there is no definition in a dictionary and no synonym in a thesaurus for either term. Yet the terms exist in the business world and are used by SOS and other similar businesses to categorize their employees.<sup>5</sup>

Great American does not take the position that courts should never look to dictionaries to define certain words in insurance policies; rather, its position is that reference to this source is not useful and not reliable when the dictionary does not contain

---

<sup>5</sup> Appellants suggest that Federal did not have SOS’ understanding of “staff” and “temporary employee” and thus SOS’ “subjective and unilateral intent has no bearing.” (Appellants Brief, p. 42). The facts simply do not support the premise. SOS’ broker communicated SOS’ concerns to Federal (R. 1441-42), and SOS found that the resulting manuscript endorsement reflected precisely its intent. (R.1341.) The endorsement itself is evidence of a bilateral understanding.

a definition for a term and that term has a commonly-understood meaning in the insured's line of business. *See Berger v. Ideal Nat'l. Life Ins. Co.*, 524 P.2d 599, 601 (Utah 1974) (terms in insurance contracts should be construed to reflect the "ordinarily accepted meaning" of the term). Reliance on this source here is actually counterproductive because it produces outlandish results.<sup>6</sup> The Knutesons suggest that a "temporary employee" must mean anyone who works "part-time" for SOS without expectation of continued employment; but there are staff employees who work part-time, and all staff employees agree by signing their Staff Application for Employment that they can be fired at-will. (R. 1333). They claim that since a synonym for "staff" is "employee," that must mean that all SOS employees are staff employees and that there is no such thing as a temporary employee. This is simply not the case in the business of SOS. The two terms are commonly used and mean different things.

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